
Final Transcript 
8/28/84 

HaUoff: This is part two of an oral history interview held with General 

Matthew B. lidgway at his home in Fox Chapel, Pittsburgh. on April 19, 

1984. Representing the OSD historical program, as in the first part, is 

Dr. Maurice Matloff. 

General, I'd like to continue our discussion of your role as Army 

Chief of Staff, in which you served during the period 1953 to 1955, and 

begin by talking about relationship. with various sectors of the OSD. 

What were your relationships with Secretary of Defense Wilson? Then we 

will go on to the two Deputy Secretaries during your tenure, Boger Kyes 

and Robert Anderson. 

Ridgway: My relations with Secretary Wilson were anything but pleasant. 

Hr. Wilson came in with an extensive ignorance of the military establiah-

ment and a well-established dislike for the Army. He openly criticized 

the Aray for poor performance in World War II. But, most of all, he was 

one of thea. gentlemen who have made up their minds and do not want to 

li8ten to facts. On frequent occasions I would go to him on a problem 

of major importance, that 1 bad coordinated with Secretary of the Army 

Stevens, and find him looking out the window. drumming his fingers on 

the table, and paying no attention whatever. On one occasion Mr. Stevens 

went with me, aDd, as we were leaving, he addressed us as "you men," as 

he miahe well have 801Ie employees in a factory. Neither of us .ade any 

comment but hi. whole attitude vaa not lo.t on uS at all. My deal1ngs 

with Roger Kyes were not very frequent, but be waa the bully1ng type, 

a man of impressive physique and, I guess, equally iaprea.1ve 
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business record. B18 whole attitude was to overawe a lIilitary man who 

came to him with problea.. My relations with Bob Anderson were most 

pleasant. Here was a gentleman of the first order, who would listen 

patiently and attentively to anything you had to say~ and sive it full 

consideration and a reasonable respouse. 

Metlott: Did you have lIaDY dealings with other top OSD officials, for 

azaaple, Comptroller Wilfred MeBeil? 

lidgwax= No, very little. Our Comptroller~ General Decker, rendered 

such an outstanding performance that the congressional ~tteea before 

whom he frequently appeared save him a very hiSh tribute orally when he 

was leavins the servIce to retire. 

Matloff: How close was the top OSD leadership, Wilson, for example, with 

the JCSl Were there frequent lleetings? Did he sit down with them? 

RidgwaI: I don't recall that Mr. Wilson ever attended a 88ssion of the 

Joint Chiefs of Staff, nor do I believe that Roger Xyes did. Itm not 

quite sure about Mr. Anderson. It would have been bis nature to do so, 

but I don't recall sessions wbere be was present. That was quite differ-

ent from tbe days of Secretary of State Acheson, who frequently sat in 

with us, and to the best of my recollection, 80 too did Secretary Lovett. 

Matloff: Bow about your relations with other lIembers of the Joint Chiefs 

of Staff and its Chairman. Admiral Radford? Were there any differences 

between you and tne other Chiefs? 

lldpa,: Very much 80, between me and Admiral Radford. He had a very 

one-track aind. When he came to soae conclusion, be would pursue that to 
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the ultimate conclusion, -in unmitigated act," as Kipling said. I think 

that he felt strongly that the defense of the United States in the years 

ahead devolved primarily on air and sea power t and therefore the Amy 

could be drastically reduced. He 80 recommended at one tlme. That 

should be in a document in the files of the Joint Chiefs of Staff. As a 

reBult, Mr. WilBon apparently had great confidence in him and 1 think that 

he accepted RadfoTd's views most of the time. As I recall it, Radford 

came back with Eisenhower and Dulles, when Eisenhower went to Korea after 

his election but before he became president. Apparently Radford very 

much impressed Eiaenhower, to the point where he chose him to be the 

Chairman of the Joint Chiefs. My relations with the other members of 

the camp were most cordial. We never bad any troubles. We had strong 

disagreeBents, Which we aired orally in the meetings of the Joint Chiefs 

of Staff. But my views and Radford's were generally quite different. 

Later on. when the Vietnam war came On, he was strongly in favor of using 

the A-bomb there and I was strongly opposed to It. My other colleagues 

on the Joint Chiefs, carney of the Navy, Twining of the Air Force and, I 

think. Shepherd of the Marine Corps, were all pretty much of my point of 

view. 

Matloff: How much time did you find you bad to spend on the JCS business? 

Ridpay: A great deal. We had the Indochina problem coming up ~ and the 

French were pressing the United States government to intervene there in 

various ways. They had been pressing for money for a long time and they 

got a rather large amount. Then they wanted us to take over the training, 
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and we did that. Finally, when the siege of Dien Bien Pbu was on, they 

supported Radford's point of view of using the A-bomb. 

Matloff: Whom did the Secretary of Defense back When there were split 

issues in the Joint Chiefs of Staff? Old he usually go with the Chairaan? 

lidswal; Yes, generally speaking_ 

Matloff: Was there a deep schism in the Joint Chiefs over massive retali-

ation, by the time you got to 19551 Was the feeling rather strong about 

the pros and the cons'l 

Ilideay: Yes. I would say 80 _ I think Carney and I thought pret ty much 

alike. He could correct me on this, but I think he and I were pretty 

much in accord, and, to a considerable degree, Nate TWining, too. My 

only strong differences of view--and they were honest views, Itm sure, 

on both sides........",ere with Radford. We were not hesitant in expresai138 our 

opinions. So there waa a very strong divergence of view there throughout 

IIlOst of Illy two years between llad.ford and 1Il8. 

Matloff: About relations with Congress--how did you handle the problelll 

when you bad to appear before congressional c01lladttees, when your original 

view differed fr01ll that of the position taken by the Secretary of Defense 

or the Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff? 

Ridgway: I can only recall clearly now--and all these things should be 

checked by doeulIlents, which I think still ezist--When I was a witness 

before a joint sea810n of two committees of the Senate--Foreign Relations 

and Armed Forces. It was chaired by Walter George of Georgia. It waa a 

moat impre.sive occasion, and 1 canft now give you the substance exact in 
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detail, but Senator George .. id to me, "General, we want your frank opin­

ions." I replied, "Senator, you shall have them. To whatever delree 

the other _mben of the Joint Chiefs agree (all of whoa were present 

there at this meeting), they're here in presence and you can ask them. 

but my views follow. M I told him exactly what my views were and I think 

the reception that joint committee gave me was very satisfying_ 

KaUoff: Let's touch on the McCarthy hearings just a bit. You mentioned 

that Army Secretary Stevens became involved with the McCarthy hearings. 

Did that involvement in any way complicate your dealings with Congress? 

Ridgway: Ro, I don't think 80. 

KaUoff: You waren' t drawn in in any way? 

RidgwaI' No, I wasn't. 

Matloff: How about the impact of those hearings OIl Army morale during 

that period? 

lU.dgway: 1 couldn't &Dewer that question. I know that the impact person-

ally on Secretary Stevens must have been very deep, because he vas a man 

of the highest principles and integrity dealing with a chsracter of quite 

opposite personal traits. 

Matloff: Let'a talk someWhat about the relations with President Eisenhower. 

Row did President Eisenhower conceive of your role as a member of the Joint 

Chiefs versus that of the A~y Chief of St&ff in t8lportance'l Dtd you sense 

any feeltnl on hts part as to what the relative importance of those roles 

were? 
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Bidsway: Ro, I don't believe 80. The President was very generous in 

listening to my views at any time. As a matter of fact, he asked me to 

present the result8 of that mis8ion I sent over to Indochina, to examine 

the state on the ground and come back and report. I made a personal 

report to him, first alone J and then before the Natioul Security Councll. 

Matloff: Was this in 1954, at the time of Dien Bien Phu? 

Ridgway: I'm no t sure of the timing. 

Matloff: Still on relations with the President. did you find Eisenhower 

as commander in chief impartial? Did he favor his old service, or did he 

lean over backwards in other directions? 

Udawal: My recollection would be that in order to appear completely 

impartial. he rather leaned over backwards not in favor of the Army_ He 

didn't want to be accused of partiality toward his former service. I 

think that the opinions of others would bear that out. 

Matloff: Dtd he ever seek your advice on other than purely Army issues? 

R1dsway: Hilitary i8sues broader than the Army, yes. 

Matloff: You mentioned that m1ss10n. Do you recall any other examples 

where he might have done that? 

Udaway: No, I don't. 

Matloff: What were Eisenhower's vie .. in connection with split JCS 

papers? Do you reall his ventilating any feelIngs about not wanting 

split papers, tba~ he wanted a unanimous or aoae kind of agreed upon 

posHion? 
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iidgwal: 1 referred yesterday to that meeting when the President caae 

down to speak to the Joint Chiefs, then newly installed 1n office, at 

Quantico, and General Bradley, the former Chairman of the Joint Chiefs, 

was also present. Eisenhower 1n his informal off-the-cuff manner said, 

1n substanee, ·You new Chiefs get together and thrash these things out 

and come to agreement, and present me with agreed papers." This was when 

I went to Bradley, whOm I knew so intimately, and said, -Brad, I'm dis-

turbed about this because, rightly or wrongly, I get the impresslon that 

the President is saying that he wants 'yes' men around him. When stroQ8 

men get together, as these all are on the Joint Chiefs, there are bound 

to be fundamental disagreements sometime., and they canDOt be reconciled. 

They should go forward in that manner. This is the provinee of the clvil-

ian superiors. They have got to make the decision." I don't: recall 

what Bradleyts answer was, but I cite that as an example of my first real 

eneounter with the President. Just sfter I came back from the European 

command, the President invited me over to the White House for breakfast, 

just the two of us. I donlt recall the topics of our conversation, but I 

assume that we went over my service with NATO, because he had left that 

post h1mself shortly before. It was a very pleasant breakfast. and Itm 

sure that we ranged over the whole world situation. 

Hatloff: Did you have direct aceesa to him once you vere in the position? 

Ridgway: I never Bought it. no. 

Matloff: Did you go through bis national security advisor, or staff sec-

retary. as he was called 1n tho8e days' 
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R:l.dSW8I: I never bad occaBion to ask for a meeting with bim_ Be asked 

me to come over and present the report in person, after that mis8ion came 

back fro-. Indochina. 

Matloff: Were there ever any repercussions on his part when you bad to 

appear on the Hill and your feelings about the Army's slice of the budget 

were quite strong? any atteapt to lean your public position before the 

cOllllit:tee8? 

Ridsway: No, I was called before the Congress very infrequently. The 

only thing that I clearly remember now was before that joint session of 

the two Senate co.aittees. 

Matloff: Conceruing the State Department, particularly Secretary of 

State Dulles. what were your relations with him? 

Ridgway: Very pleasant. ! had contact with him When I had first joined 

the Military Staff Committee in London when the United Hatio&s were for-

ma11y organized. That was the first time I had ever met bill. Later on, 

I got to see a good deal of him, because at least for the first year of 

my tour as a member of the Joint Chiefs all of the Chiefs attended the 

ses8ions of the National Security Council. In the latter part of my tour 

that was changed and the rest of us were not invited; only the Chairman 

attended. I recall one incident when the President was ill--lt may not 

bave been a meeting of the whole Council--but I do recall that Vice 

President Nixon was in the chair. Some major issue arose and Admiral 

Radford elected to state the views of the Joint Chiefs, including those 

of the Army_ 1 interrupted, apologized to the Chairman, and said. "I 
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must object to this. I'm At'IIy Chief of Staff" and I w111 preaent the 

views of the At'IIy on this question." That cut that off right away. and 

Hr. Nixon beard my views. 

Matloff: Did you have the impression that Secretary of State Dulles wder-

stood the role and uses of military power? 

Rid.a!: He was obsessed with the idea that we would use the bomb at times 

and places of our own choosing_ I think that he had a fundamental miscon-

caption of the possible use of the A-bomb. It wa. something that you just 

could not use indiscriminately. But 1 think that, initially at least, 

Mr. Dulles would have settled any problem that arose by the threat of the 

use of the A-bomb, as was done in Korea before Eisenhower beeame President. 

The whole history of the world since that time bas shown that it really 

doesn't have any use. It's all or nothing with that thiug. Herbert 

York, a prestigious setentist, wrote a book called The load to Oblivion, 

that covered that point very well. 

Matloff: We'll be talldng with him, too, in this program. 1 take it then 

that Dulles probably didn't understand the possible uses of the Army as 

an instrument of national power, either. 

Ridgway: I would think so. 1 would think that that would follow. 

Katloff: Let me touch for a moment on the DoD reorganization of 1953--did 

you favor it or not? That came along during the period that you had taken 

over. That reorganization, based OIl the recollmendations of the ltockefeller 

Committee, was called Reorganization Plan No.6. It in effect removed ene 

JCS from the chain of command. The service secretaries, rather than the 

9 Page determined to be Unclassified 
Reviewed Chief, RDD, WHS 
lAW EO 13526, Section 3.5 
Date: FEB 1 9 2014 



service cbiefs, became the executive agents for the unified military com­

mands. What impact, if any, might it have had on the Army? Did it make 

any big differenees, for example, in the Chief of Staff's handling of the 

ground forces in crisis actions? 

Ridgway: J(y lIlellOry is not clear on that. I recollect the Rockefeller plan 

but I couldn't answer your question. Let me go back to my dealings with 

DUlles. Mr. Dulles was a top-flight lawyer with a traiaed mind, aud his 

oral briefings of the National Security Council at the times when I was 

present were done in a masterly fashion. Fact after fact was clearly stated 

in beautiful sequence. In fact, so much 80 that one time, after the National 

Security Council broke up, I went up to express my adairation for the clar-

ity and completeness of his presentation of a complicated situation. On 

the question of downgrading or changing, Which did or did not occur under 

the Rockefeller plan, I don't remember that. I do remember very strongly 

that I felt that the service secretaries were being degraded in influence, 

and I put this in a talk I gave to the whole Army staff at one time. before 

I knew how it was going to be handled. The Secretary of Defense bad stated 

publicly that he would honor the authority and pOSition of the service sec-

retar!es, and orders to them would only come from him. That was discarded 

very early. As a matter of fact, 1 think that you would find that the 

service secretaries were very frequently getting orders from various 888i&-

tant secretaries of Defense, and not with the knowledse and approval of the 

Secretary of Defense himself. In other words, the serviee aecretaries were 

really beins denigrated. 1 protested against that. 1 have a paper--vhen 
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McElroy was Seeretary of Defense. he asked for .y opinions--I'll get you 

a eopy. I felt that there waa a double barreled thing there. In the 

first place. the service seeretaries should have the full authority of 

the great responsibility they carry and deal with nobody less than the 

Deputy Secretary or Under Secretary of Defe1l8e. and DOt have thb prol1f-

eration. There were nuaerouB assistant aecretaries Who would come down 

and give orders to the service secretaries. I thought that was wrong. 

and I stated that in the letter to Secretary McElroy. 

Matloff: On the positions of the Joint Chiefs versus the service seere-

taries, do you recall any chauge in relationships between those two in 

the chain of command? 

Ridsway: No, I don' t. You see, duriug the Korean War the Army Chief of 

Staff was the agent for the Joint ChIefs, so he issued orders direct to 

the Far Bast COIllU.nd. This was changed stter the Korean War t and there'" 

after any such instructions caee not from any member of the Joint Chiefs 

but froa the service secretary concerned or from the Secretary of Defense. 

Matloff: In connection with the perceptions of the threat with which the 

United States wee faced, do you recall the dominant attitude toward the 

Soviet threat that you found in DoD when you assumed office? Was it any 

different frOli tne perception of the threat in your otl1er capacities? 

Were there any differences of views about the threat within DoD? within 

tne JCSt or between the JCS and the Secretary of Defense? 

R1dsway: I think that we had a pretty clear perception of the scope 

and the aagnitude of the three t, al thougn the ae tions which snould be 
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taken to minimize that threat were quite different fro. those which the JCS 

would have taken. I think that's been true all the way through. as I was 

referring to a little While ago. It's impossible for me to imagine why the 

advice supported by incontrovertible evidence of the senior military leaders 

over the period of several successive administrations waa given only lip 

service by the civilian authorities. 

MaUoff: This touchea on what we were discussing earlier. Have your views 

about the threat changed over the years? 

Ilid'!!l: Hot a bit. Everything has confirmed. them. Bverything in the 

docuaent that I gave you this morning, which was written in 1947, stands 

just as true today, except for one thing. At that time Soviet naval power 

had not emerged as a threat to our Navy in the oceans of the world as it is 

today. 

Katlott: Letts turn to atrategy and atrategic planning, and we will touch 

on the New Look policy of the Eisenhower administration. Who in the Depart-

ment of Defense was primarily influential in 8trategy-aaking during your 

tenure? Was it the Joint Chiefs? the services? 

Ilidgway: It should have stemmed from the Joint Chiefs as a body. In other 

words. the civilian authorities state the political objectives, and the 

prime responsibility is, of course, the protection of the country. From 

those, the Joint Chiefs try to evolve a plan to meet any reasonable contin-

gency Which they can foresee. 

Matloff: DId the Secretary of Defense play any role tn this process? 

Ridgval; Not during the formulation. but after the views of the Joint 
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Staff reached hia» he was responsible under the President for either 

approving, disapproving» or changing whatever views were submitted. 

Katioff: Some Secretaries of Defense have been very active in this role, 

for example. Secretary McNamara. But Secretary Wilson, I take It, was of 

a different stripe. 

RidgwaI: Yes. Fortunately, I didnlt serve under McNamara. 

Katloff: How closely did the President or the Secretary of Defense follow 

the developaent of military strategy? Was Eisenhower keeping a fairly close 

watch On it? 

Ridgway: Yes, I think 80. Of course, you must rem_ber always in evalu-

ating Eisenhower that he had two very serious illnesses that took a lot out 

of him. He bad unique experience in World War II as Supreme CClIIlmander in 

Europe_ This reminds me of the t11le when Acheson was taken apart by the 

media for baving put Korea outside of our line of defense. 'I'hat was simply 

carrying out a decision which President Truman bad approved. The Joint 

Chiefs had recomaended that to Truman, and be had accepted it _ And why 

wouldn't be? It was a joint recommendation of Leaby. who was senior aide 

to Franklin Ioosevelt and later to Truman, Eisenhower, Nimitz. and 

Spaatz. Thoae four all agreed on this question. If we got into a war. 

Korea was the last place in which we wanted to bave to figbt. It would be 

a secondary or tertiary theater. They forwarded that recommendation to the 

PreSident, who approved it. So Acheson was only enunciating a policy which 

the commander in chief himself had approved, on the recommendation of the 

Joint Chiefs of Staff. 
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Katloff: On the origins of the New Look Poliey, on which 10 much has 

been written. discussed, and debated, did you get any tapresaion as to 

how this came about? Was it possibly British influence; purely econOllica; 

Air Force influence; strategic considerations? Did you haYe any feeling as 

to why the administration began to talk about the New Look and argue for it? 

Ud8!!Y1 The New Look, if 1 understand it, was primarily that they would 

use the A-bomb to save lIDney. You wouldn't have to have an enO'l'lllou8 mil-

itary. because you would just drop an A-bomb and that would settle 1t. 1 

bave no idea of any influence the British exercised on this, none whatever. 

Matloff: In the middle of the 50s the writing of some of the British analysts 

dealt with the swing over to the idea of independent deterrent as one way 

that Britain could go, too. 

Bidsway: I don't know about that. 

Matloff: I was going to ask you whether this policy of the New Look only 

accented or emphasized trends that were already started in previous admin-

istrations--wbether it was really that new and different? How about the 

impact on the services, particularly the Army'. attitude toward the New 

Look? Did you suppoTt the New Look in principle or did you have strong 

reservations? 

Bidmy: No; I'll give you a concrete example. to which I referred before. 

Radford waa the big proponent of dropping the A-bomb on Dien Bien Pbu. Re 

said tbat this was the first very clear chance to apply the New Look. I 

waa in wholehearted opposition. 

Hatloff: What in your view IJbould have been tbe Amy' a role under the 

New Look policy? WaB there a place for the Army? 
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Ridgway: Absolutely. The !ray is the essential. the final arbiter, because 

the control of land i. the ultimate basis. Neither the Navy nor the Air 

Force can operate without secure land bases_ How would they aet the secure 

land bases1--by the aray's protection of the territory involved. Really 

this 1s the bia theme the Army is trying to put across to the public today-­

that land power is the final key element in the whole thing. 

Matloffs What was your attitude toward nuclear weapons--their buildup and 

use? Did you and the other chiefs favor the use of nuclear weapons under 

certain circumstances at least? 

RidgwaY: I think that you will find almost unanimous disagreement t except 

on Radford's part, of the use of the A-bomb in Dien Bien Phu. Earlier in 

Korea» it was certainly considered, to the point where we war-samed the 

situation to see if we could make proper use of the A-bomb. Even earlier 

than that, when the President wss oyer there (before he took office), I 

read that he threatened that If they didn't produce an armistice, he would 

use the A-bomb on them. It was perfectly apparent that it could be used. 

It was a weapon that was available and we aave very careful consideration 

to it. Bradley came over to see me, when 1 was Supreme Commander in Tokyo, 

and asked, in effect, KWould you use it now?- I said, "No, I would not. 

because I don t t know how many bombs the Russians have, but we are very 

vulnerable to this thing.M 

Matloff: On questions of conventional versus nuclear defense, I thought 

you would have leaned toward conventional. 

RidlwaX: Yes. But I tve often said that if I were field comIMnder aud I bad 

a nuclear weapon under .y control and if it eame to the point where it was a 
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question of tbe destruction or saving of my forces. I would unhesitatingly 

use it, witb or without permisslon. 

Matloff: Did you ever have any dlscussions with Dulles or witb the Presi­

dent on what tbey meant by brinkmanship and massive retaliation? 

Uds!!y: No, not personally. Again, I'll come back to my relations with 

Dullese I recall an incident when Adenauer came over to tbe United States 

and I was Chief of Staff (I had bad very fine relations with him when I had 

the European command). He wanted. I learned later, to consult with me on 

how he could best reconstitute the German army without having the flavor of 

the old Hitler regiae. I'd had the saae problem with Yoshida: how he could 

build up the Japanese ground self-defense force witbout getting tbis m11i-

taristic element into it again. I told this to Hr. DulleSt who sSid, "I'd 

like you to arrange a meetlns witb Mr._~enauert and feel free to talk to 

him about this." So we did. Tbe reason I bring this np is because a short 

time later LTG Trudeau got in trouble and was relieved because apparently, 

eitber with Adenauer or a British bigb official, he went about something 

the wrong way. The point I am l18k.ing is that in my case it was done because 

the Secretary of State himself asked me to do it. I think that Trudeau 

migbt have possibly stepped out of bounds. Hefs a very able man. splendid 

in every way, and he finally was vindicated and brought back. Dulles had a 

vindietive streak in him. The Oppenheimer case proved it very well. lie 

crueif1ed Oppenheimer. Finally, years later, it was retracted but it was 

too late. He practically ruined that man's ureer. 
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Katloff: Did you think that massive retaliation was merely rhetoric with 

Dullea, or was the administration serious about the posstble use of atomic 

weapons? 

lidsway; I think be believed this. Re would say, "I'll tell you what, you 

do so-and-so and I'll use the A-bomb on you." He'd bring them rigbt up to 

the brink. I think he was absoute!y sincere. I don't think it was just 

rbetoric at all. 

)faUoff: Would the President have gone along with him, do you think? 

Ridsway: I dontt think Eiaenhower would have. Eisenhower said in his 

memoirs that he lIligbt have gone along with intervening in Indochina in 1954, 

bad Britain and France gone along with him, but primarily Britain. The 

British government said that it would have no part of it. 

Matloff: Still on the question of strategy and touching on weaponry. did 

tbe President encourage you and the other chiefs to go forward with the 

development of conventional weapons? 

Ridgway: 1 can't reullber any overt eneouragelllent; certainly no contrary 

opinion brought against it. We in the Ar1IlY were trying, among other things 

at that tillle, to foresee the character of the battlefield in a future war--

not trying to look bBO far ahead, but to be practical about the thing. We 

realized that the present oraanlzation we had of a very heavy division 

probably needed some drastic change. So we had a very thorough study done. 

Like all these things, it only offered a partial solution or correction. 

Since then, we've had numerous changes in the organization of divisions 

and, ri&ht now, we are trying to organize a light infantry division. 
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Katloff: You mentioned some difference of views with Admiral Radford. 

Wherein. if at all, were your views of limited,war and brushfire wars, even 

the use of conventional weapons, different from those of the other chiefs? 

Ridgway: The main difference was this question of using the A-bomb. 

Hatloff: How did you see the Army's role in the atomic age? Youtve written 

in your volume, Soldier, that one of your main concerns was what the Army 

of the future should look like and what its role .should be. You bad given 

considerable thought to this question. 

Rideay: I'd rather rest on what I what I wrote. It was fresh in my mind, 

and I stated it in the precise language I wanted to use. 

Katlof!: We'll refer the reader to your chapter on the Army t iii role in the 

atomic age. 

Ridgway: I frequently reread my letter to the Secretary of Defense dated 

June 27~ 1955, three days before I retired. That Is the one that I sent to 

him unclassified. He dldn t t lIke some parts of it, 80 be claSSified 1t--

marked it ftsecret." The New York Times got ahold of it within 48 hours, in 

toto, not through me or any of my subordinates. I don't know how they got 

it. They published the whole thing. Then they queried him about it, and 

be said, "It waan't important anyway." 

Matloff: You have a copy of that in your memoirs. 

Ridawayl Yes, 1 read it and reread it. I would hardly change a word in 

that thing_ The only thing waa that I couldn't then foresee that the 

Russian mUitary machine, which bad through the ase8 been essentially a 

ground force, could possibly become a first-class blue water navy. It was 
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not in the tradition of the Russian people. The last time they bad a 

sizable fleet, the Japanese destroyed it at Tsusht.a. In May 1905. 

Matloff: Let's turn to NATO for a minute. We talked yesterday at consid­

erable length about your experiences in NATO. Did the problema in NATO 

chanae wben you became Chief of Staff? Did you get involved again with 

NATO problem. in any way? You touched on the Carasn aray buildup_ 

BidpaX: The Geman army thing came a little bit later. That came during 

my Chief of Staff tour. The problems had changed from the time I took over 

from Eisenhower. Eisenhower had gotten there in a spirit of euphoria among 

the heads of the governaent. with his tremendous reputation and the rea1i-

zation of the real tht'eat of the Soviet Union, so that they were willing to 

proaise everything, and they did. They promised all theae diviaiona--that 

we would bave X number of divisions by M+30 and all of that. But that 

period had very much cooled when the polItical heads of theae governments 

found what the coat of this thing waa .. and meanwhile they apparently felt: 

that the threat had somewhat abated. They weren't willing to go along and 

provide the funda to do it. That was our big problem. 

Matloff: When you became Chief of Staff of the Army, were you lnvolved 

with NATO policies. strategy, and buildup? 

llidawsy: Yes, because this was when we were trying to reinforce our forces 

in NATO, and Senator Taft opposed this strongly. We were trying to provide 

two more division8 there and beef up the ~ivi8ion8 we already bad in the 

area. 1n spite of Korea. Korea was more or less atatie. The decision had 

been _de by Mr. Truman before I beeame Chief of Staff, while I was still 
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Supreme Commander in the Far East, that there would be DO aaterial rein-

forceaent of the forces in Korea. You work with what you've got over there 

now, the rest of it will be loing to Europe. This is "t Taft opposed. 

So we were very auch involved in that in doi88 our planning, but these 

political directives came down frOil Eisenhower and, of course, be wanted to 

build up the streagth of our NATO contin,ent, too. 

Matloff: Alolll with the queet.ion of the German rearaa.ent and the adals-

8ion of Geraany to the alliance in 1955, the question of the buildup of the 

German arm,.. beeaae iaportant. You touched on this a little earlier. Did 

you have any doubts, mis,ivings, or qualms at first about German rearmaaent, 

in view of Germany's past history? 

Ridswa!: Agaln, it's a bard thing to look back 30 or 40 years. I think 

that .y thinking goes back so far that the German people are essentially 

mil1 tads tic. The love of soldiering is bred in the bone of the German 

people. I'm sure that I wasn't trying to look ahead another decade or two 

as to what might happen if we permitted West Germany to rebuild its army. 

But neither would I have ignored the fact that that was a very likely 

contingency, as it was with Japan. The forces operating against it in the 

eaee of Japan were: (1) the thinking of the Japanese electorate when the 

woaen got the franchise and everything elae after the peace treaty, and (2) 

the academicians and the yonth of the country were opposed to militarism. 

CORbined with that was the deep hatred that the Japanese operations had 

engendered in all the countries of southeast Asia, the Philippines, Malaysia, 

TbailaDCi, etc. 
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Matloff: You expressed before that you felt that these forces in Japan and 

Germany weTe going to be rebuilt; that you wanted to rebuild them, but with-

out the touch of Hitler and of the militaristic element in Japan. 

8.1dgway: It was very interesting that I had that SUe very frank talk with 

Yoshida, the Prime Minister of Japan, and later with Adenauer, the Chancellor 

of West Germany_ 

Katloff: That's a rather unique experience, I would think. There aren't 

very many officials that have had that. 

Udgway: I told them. that the differences were very pronounc.ed. One fun­

damental difference was that in Germany, particularly, the individual officer 

took a personal oath to Hitler, but our allegiance is to the President of 

the United States, and those who may succeed him in power. 

Matloff: We mentioned yesterday something about the European Defense Com-

aunity proposal of am.algamating West Germany closer to the Western defense 

community by having a common European army. Old you as Chief of Staff get 

drawn in on those discussions? 

Ridgway: No, 1 wa8n't drawn into that at all. 

Matloff: Lets come now to some of the area problems that arose. You've 

already touched on Indochina. I'd like to come directly to this because 

there are some questions that still linger. During your tenure as Chief of 

Staff there occurred the Dien Bien Phu crisis, and, shortly thereafter, 

came the communist takeover of northern Indochina as a result of the Geneva 

conference. What were your iapressions at the time of the significance of 

those develo~ents for American security interests? There vas, for example, 
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a rather widespread feeling on the part of United States officialdom that 

coamunis. was on the march and putting the free world generally on the 

defenaive. Did you share thu feeling at the time? 

RidSway: I personally never subscribed to the domino theory. that if one 

fal18, they all would. I dontt today. I think that the rulers of each one 

of these goveruments are going to decide in their own interests what they 

want to do. That's DOt to preclude the possibility that it would happen. 

For exaaple, as in Central America today, with people who have been denied 

the basic elements of life for centuries, Who are ill-fed. tIl-clothed, ill-

housed and have no medical attention of any kind, you're always going to have 

a group that is seeking power. They go through the same process. Usually 

they proclaim that they want freedom for their people and because of 

that they draw the support of such middle class and business people as 

there may be. But in the back of the minds of these leaders is, -When we 

get control, we t re going to exercise authoritarian rule.· And. that' s what 

happens. 

Matloff: Let's talk about the Dien Bien Phu crisis in the spr1ng of 1954, 

which has come up bere on a nuaber of points. Were you consulted about 

possible U.S. help during that crisis? What advice do you recall giving? 

There were discussions in the Joint Chiefs, and apparently meetings with the 

President, too. You mentioued Admiral Radford's desire for an atomic 

strike. What position did you take at that time? 

Ridsway: 1 opposed entry into Indochina 10 the first place very strongly. 

Going way back--l've forgotten just when it bappened--but we had an ambassador 
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vho had just been des:1gaated to be the ambassador to Indochina. Phillp 

BonsaI t and he came to lie when I V8S the NATO commander t or maybe when I 

was Deputy Chief of Staff of the Anay. In effect, he wanted to know 1£ I 

had any commente on the job be was about to undertake. I sa1d, "Yes, I 

certainly do. t think you've got a bell of a tough job to take over there." 

I can only say that from the very beginning I was strong1y opposed to 

intervention in Indochina. When it was first brought up to lie (I think 

I was taking Collins' place when he was off somewhere) by the State Depart-

lIent, Who wanted the view of the Joint Chiefs on X number of hundreds of 

millions of dollars to the French, I said, "I think that you're throwing 

good lIOuey after bad. As far as I'm c.oncerned that's kind of out of my 

field but I think that you are just wasting your money." That was the 

beglnning of my opposition, and I opposed it all the way through. When we 

were overruled (ltd long since retired before we put eombat forees in 

there), my reaction to our sendlng in a Marine contingent as the first 

combat element into Vietnam was. -Don't you learn anything from Korea?M 

Matloff: It was the Korean experience that made you feel that we should 

stay out of Indochina? Was that the basis for the feeling? 

R.1dgway: Tbe main thing, even before I sent that group of senior experts, 

quartermaster, medical, signal, englneering, and eOllbat arms, over there 

to survey the theater on the ground, was that there was abysul ignorance in 

the whole Defense Department of the nature of the theater there. I put it 

in writing: "It will take a major national logi8tic effort to prepare the 

facilities that an Aaerican force requires, if you're gOine into Indochina." 
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I told the., as a result of the study we bad made in the Plans Division 

under General Gavin, "If you go 1n there, you're going to wind up with a 

force of some half a .ll110n troops." Radfordts position was that it could 

be done by air and navy at the beginning. My opposition was dead set 

against that. If we co1Ulitted air and navy, we were going to have to f01-

low up with ground troops, and I wanted nO part of it. 

hUoff: Let lie introdl1C!e a question here by my colleaaue Dr. Uchard 

Leighton, who has written in the u.s. Army in World War II series and 18 

working 00 the OSD history in this period. Be asked me to ratse this point 

with you. In study1a& the period he finds that 80111.e of the writers, Bernard 

Fall, Melvin Gurtov, and others, have recorded your strong OPPOSition, during 

the siege of Dien Bien Phu in the spring of 1954, to Admiral Radford's 

recommendation for an air strike to halp the French at a critical poInt in 

the siege, in response to a French appeal. They've written that that 

recommendation of yours was decisive in influencing President Eisenhower to 

turn down the Radford proposal, and that you were convinced that the inter-

ventton with air and naval forces would lead inevitably to deploying large 

ground forces to Indochina. These writers have a180 written that during 

the same spring you had sent a team of logistic spedalists to the theater 

to examine its capabilitlea--porta. roads, railroads, airfields, and the 

l1k.e--for supporting large coned operations, and that that miSSion bad 

discovered that the capabilities wexe minimal. 

Ridgway: Absolutely non-existent, 1 would aay. 

Hatloff: Does this tally with your aemory! 
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B.1dl!!1: Absolutely. 

Matloff: Rere 11 the historian's problem. quot1na Dr. Lelshton: "1 bave 

been unable to find evidenee that such an army mi8sion was In fact 8eot to 

Indoeh1na in the sprins of 1954, althoush your oppoaition to the deploysunt 

of larse grouad forces to the theater 1s, of course, well docu.8oted." 

Udaway: Tell him to look up 1111 lIlemorandua of 17 May 1954, which refers to 

the report of this .1s.ioo. I don't have a copy of that here. This is 

when I briefed fIrst tne Secretary of the Army, and then President Elseo-

hower in person. I think that was decisive, but that's purely opinion on 

Illy part. Let me refer to your friend Leighton for a minute. With refer-

ence to port facilities, there wasn't any place where you could unload, 

except a minimum of toos, and if you could get It off the ship) you would 

have to put it in a rice paddy. The telepbone system and the electrical 

comlllunication system in the country were practically nonexistent. The 

roads were wholly inadequate to support the population. And as 1 said 

asa10, -If you go In there, It t 8 going to take a major national logistic 

effort to do It." It dId. We poured billions of dollars into developing 

Cam &.anb Bay. Danang. and those places--not million., but bilUons of dollars. 

The Russians are using them now. 

Matloff: On the question of your recommendation to the Preddent at the 

time of Dien Bien Phu, Dr. Leighton ¥as esking if you personally advised 

the President not 00 order a carrier air strike asainst the Vlet Minh at 

Dien Bien Phu at any tIme before April 29, when. aeeording to a writer on 
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Indochina, Bernard Fall. the tasue was seriously considered for the last 

time. 

I1dS!ay: I don't recall that I made a penonal recommendation to the Pres-

dent. Whatever recommendation I made would have gone through channels. 

Matloff: Can you recall whether it was before April 291 

Ridgway: NOt I eould not do that. 

Matloff: Dien lUen Phu aetually fell on May 7. Is there anytbina more 

that you would like to say on this crisis in Dien Bien Phu that we have 

not touched on? OSD 3.3(b)(s-lf,) + OSD 
Ridgway: No, I donte think so. Section 6.2 (a) 

Matloff: The recommendation of Radford's for an atomic 8trlke--was it in 

addition to a carrier air str1ke, or using the atomic weapon from the carrier? 

available, and were the ones that Radford wanted to use. Dulles went along 

with that. Dulles and Radford were trying to persuade the President to do 

this. 

Matloff: One of the by-products of the problems in Indochina was the found-

ing of the SEATO alliance. That was one of the offshoots when Dulles was 

looking to do a repair job. Did you get drawn in at all on that? 

Ridgway: No, not on SEATO. I want to reinforce something I said on Dien 

Bien Phu. I think Eisenhower might have gone alon.g. this is surmise on my 

part It but the.ill!. gua .!2!. was that Britain go alona and probably Franee. 

But the British said that they would have no part of it. 

Hatloff: Are you m1n~mizing your influence on him in this decision? 
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Udaway: No, I don't think so. 

Matlotf: Did you think that it carried weight? It must have bad some 

influence. 

'R.1dpaYl I couldn't even say that. Eisenhower was a professional career 

soldier and the report of this group of experts {the May 17, 1954 memo} 

would have been conclus1ve to him, overwhe11l1ngly so. As a President and 

controller of the immense power of the United States, he miSht have decided 

to So tn if Britain went alons, but Britain wouldn't go alODS-

Katloff: Is this the mission that was headed by General Gavin, that you 

mentioned earlier? 

Udpay: No I Gavin was the head of my Plans Div1sion. I mentioned Gavin 

in the connection that If we did go 1n. the Plans Division of my staff esti-

mated what forces would be required.. It would take around half a million 

men. That's what we finally sent there and still didn't do the job. 

Matlo£f: It was a very accurate prosnoscication, as it turned out. Let me 

turn to the crisia in Quemoy and Matau t which followed the one 1n Indochina. 

Did you feel it important to support the Chinese nationalists in connection 

with the problema that were rislns in the Quemoy-Katsu affair? Bow far 

would you have sone to defend those islands? 

Ifd8!ay: I wouldn't have gone at all. On the map. 1f there was a line 

bet.ween the pt01l.ontorles sticking out, a good part of those islands would 

be almost within the line. They were clearly a part of the .. inland there, 

and I didu' t think. we had any lesittlllAte reason for trying to permit the 

Chinese forces on Taiwan to take those islands. Here again, Radford and I 
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bad oppoeite points of view. He thought 80, and I didn't. 

Matlof!: Did any other trouble spots arise 1n other parts of the world? 

This was also the period ill which the Guataulan crisis ea_ up. Did you 

and the Ar.y get drawn in at all on that one? 

lUdsway: No, not at all. The President briefed us one ti_ on that Guata-

ulan situation, just after Arbenz was overthrown. 

Hatloff: You verentt drawn 1n on that? 

Ridaway: Ro, I wasn't involved. 

Matloff: Any other crisis areas that oecurred during your years as Chief 

of Stafff 

aidSW!1: I don't believe 80. 

Katloff: Let lIle ask you a little about manpower. weapons and equip_nt. 

What was your view of the relationship between nuclear weapons and the 

need for manpower for the Army? Obviously 90me people were arguing that 

with the coming of DUclear weapous you might have a bigser baus for a buck 

and need fewer men. 

Ridsway: This was Dulles's argument always. This was the basiS for his 

brinkmanship and the New Look and massive use of the A-~omb. Our conclu-

sion in the Army was that we would very likely need IIIOre people 1n a nuclear 

war, because you would have to disperse them uot far from these remunerative 

targets where you could have terrible 108ses from a single nuclear weapon. 

Then we bit into that, and I still think so today. 

Hatloff: Did any questions come up during that period as Chief of Staff 

or at other tilles about UMTf Did you have feeUngs about that onef 
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Udpay: Rot wh1.le I was Chief of Staff, but long before that. After 

World War II General Marshall led the fight to get universal military train­

iq, but Conan .. would have no part of it at all. It had Truman's support 

but the Congress was just adamant asainst it and the whole country was also. 

Katloff: Would you bave favored. it? 

Udgway: Absolutely. We worked hard for it. 

Matloff: How about questions of the draft versus the volunteer army? 

Ridgway: I opposed the latter, and 1 still think that it's a great mistake. 

There was a very fine article in the Wall Street Journal yesterday (the 

18th of April) which 1 would commend to you t "The Folly of Our Manpower 

Policy." It was written by a major in the Marine Corps I.eserve. 'You 

haven't aot a backup. You're a01ng to have enormoua casualties in the 

very initial stages of a war today, whether A-bombs are used or not, and 

we don't have the backup, the trained. manpower. 

Katioff: 'You would have favored the draft over the volunteer army? 

Rid8W!Y: Absolutely. Not only that, but you get a cross section of America, 

if it's properly and fairly implemented, and there's no question but that 

it can be. There were so many exceptions made during World War 11; that's 

where most of the criticism came. But if it's fairly implemented., you get 

a cross section of every stratum of American society. Two years' service 

is a great benefit to a youna man. It gives him a little discipline. Any 

number of times since I've been heret in the almost 30 years since I retired, 

as wen our Vietna. War was at its height. parents would come in and lIIOan, 

"My son 1s ordered to Vietnam, drafted. My wife 1s going to go crazy.- I 
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thought, "You're lucky. lie'll come out a better un than be waa before." 

Tben, almost every ttae it happened, they would come around and say that it 

did hi. a world of good. 

Matloff: Obviously the EiseDhower defense policy bad an tapact on the Amy 

buildup proaram during the period when you were Chief of Staff--the budget 

and 1I8Jlpower euts. 

Ridgway: I protested that. R1aht after I retired, I was called before a 

eomalttee of the HQuse--Mahon was the chairman, it's in the congressional 

record--and I waa asked, "Will you disaaree with the Pres1aenU" I said t 

~l do, and these are .y convictions. Hets had a lot more experience in 

so.e lines than 1, but nevertheless these are my views." 

Matloff: Let me raise 80me questions that Dr. Leigbton has given me bere 

in this connection, and see how you react to them. DId your opposition to 

the manpower cuts imposed on the Army by the President at the end of 1953 

cause you to give serious consideration to resigning as Chief of Staff? 

Tbere were press reports at the tia. that you were conatderina this. 

Ridgway: No, never. 1 deplored the fact that any senior officer would 

resign because of a disagreement with a policy, unless it was a policy 80 

repugnant to him morally, and then be always has the option of saying, "1 

will not go a10na with that, and you can have .y resignation." 

Matloff: Let me raise another one, along the same linea, in connec.tion 

with your testimony durina the hearings in the Senate on the Fiscal Year 

1955 Defense Budget--you were teetifyina early in 1954 about the 1955 bud-

get. This testimony ahows that you were very mindful of your professional 
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duty to support the lawful ordera of your civilian supariors--the Commander 

in Chief; the Seeretary of Defeuae; the Secretary of the Army. Dr. Leiabton 

has aaked how you reconciled in your own mind your later opposition in arti­

cles and speecbes, for example 1n 1955, a few months before the end of your 

tour as Chief of Staff, to the manpower and budaetary euts llIpoaed !Xl the 

A.rmy? 

ll1dp8Y: The distinction was clear in my mind. Up untll the time a deei-

s10n 18 made by a properly constituted authority. you not ouly bave the 

riaht t but you have a duty to U:pUS8 your views. You are legally a m:l.l1-

tary adviser to the Secretary of Defense and the President. If these are 

your carefully considered views, and you give the supporting reasons. then 

it is your duty to aay so before a member of the Congress. I have said in 

that con_ctlon .. and I would repeat it now-I have before recommended though 

I don't think it bas ever been agreed to--that I think that the Chief. of 

the servIce. should have the prescriptive right by legislation that any 

tiae a matter 1s of sufficient importance in their considered view they 

bave the right to appear before the proper cOllmittees of the Congress (for 

example, the A.rmed Forees Committee). not just the Congress as a whole, aDd 

state their views. This was following the time that I referred to before, 

when the Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff would elect to apeak for all 

the services. No rum in my opinion is likely to bave such a complete com-

mand of the facts relating to one of the biS services more than his own 

service. He bas spent 30 years acquiring that. If you bave a man like 

General Marshall, all beta are off because he was 80 broadmlnded that he 
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could see the whole picture, and, a8 a utter of fact, he dOllliuated the 

Navy in this whole thing. But you don't find men like hi. but once in a 

generation. 

Katlof!; Let me ask. a few general questions about cold war policies. With 

reference to contal1111lent t which was the buzz word of the day and has been 

ever since this first came into view in the 1940s--d1d you believe that 

containment was a realistic policy? 

Rideay: I don t t know what I thought then. I would say today that it 

probably was the only realistic thing you could do--try and check their 

expansion. I was probably fully in accord with that. Cbeck their apan'" 

sion a8 far as you could, without going to war; prevent their extending 

their control. 

Hatloff: How about the problem of mUitary aid as a tool in the cold war? 

How effective do you view it on the basis of your experience! 

RidSwal: Military aid to other countries! 

Hatloff: Yes. 

Ridsway: That's always a two-edged sword, too, because you always bave a 

chance (whIch bas happened before) that conditions will chanae, and all the 

military aid you poured into there w11l be turned againat you. We've got 

this today--we poured billions of dollars into building these tremendous 

logistic bases in Indochina. which are now occupied by the Russians. 

Hatloff: It works well in 80111e places, and not in others? 

RideaX: Yes, the 88111.e argwaent has been used through my whole career, not 

just as Chief of Staff. but a8 a young office~ in the Latin American field. 
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I bad extenaive experience with the Latins. NicaragDa is another example. 

Sure, we give them military equipment, but you never know what is going to 

happen in the end; it's a gallble. 

Katloff: What was your view toward arma control and disaEmallent? D1d you 

play any role in this area durins your tenure as Chief of Staff? 

R,idgway: No. It's an illusion; there's no such thins- )fan is the most 

dangerous predator on earth. It Is bred in his bones. He bas had to fight 

for a living sinee time iJlmellOrial, and he always will. That's human nature 

and it' 8 not going to change. So this business of disarmament is just a 

flpent. I think that the word should be abolished. There 1s never going 

to be disarmament. If there were, and if you abolished every weapon. you 

would fight with sticks and stones. 

htloff: How about ams control? 

R,idsway: That's a fine thing to do. but bow do you treat with leadership, 

such as the Soviet Union bas. They will violate anything. Their secrecy 

1s an openly employed method. It's been a secret society for hundreds of 

years, and no less 80 today than it ever was. 

Mat10ff: Let me ask now some general questions about your perspectives on 

the OSD organization and management. How do you see the roles and rela-

tions of the Joint Chiefs of Staff and its chairmen? Do you see any need 

for changes there? 

ll1dgway: Rather than try to answer that, I'm going to give you a copy of 

this document. It anawers this in detail. (Letter. Gen. H.B. Ridgway to 

Hell S. McElroy, Se/Def. 6 Feb. 1958.) 
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Katloff: How about relations between the Joint Chiefs of Staff and tbe 

Secretary of Defense? You·ve probably reflected on this over the years. 

Do you see any need for changes in this connection? 

Ridswa:: My views probably aren't up to date, because 1 lack the facts 

today. In this paper I wrote to Secretary MeElroy, I said, "You have far 

too many assistant secretaries of defense." But I think they have ~re 

today. I don t t know wb.a t the organization is today. Each one tend s to 

dabbla in the affairs that were the prerocativa of his seniors 1n his own 

office of Secretary of Defense and not for him personally. 

Matloff: Have you given any thought to questions about the need for changes 

in structure or workinc relations at the top levels in the OSD? 

lidSWaI: I think that's pretty well covered in this document. 

MatloH: 1 would 11k.e to go down thiS list again and get your impressions 

of some of the people with whom you eame in contact at the top levels in 

the Office of the Secretary of Defense. The general question is: How would 

you characterIze the styles, personalities. and effectivenees of the Secre-

tariee of Defense and other top officials in OSD and JCS with Whom you 

work.ed? We've already touched on Secretary of Defense Wilson. I have a 

series of questions about him, some of which yOll have already answered. 

Bow would you characterize Wileon as administrator of the Department of 

Defense? Do you consider that on balance his administration was ef6ect1ve? 

I1dp!Y: Very poor. They wound up with a $12 billion deficit during 

Eisenhower'. first term. as I recall. It got completely out of Wilson's 

control, and he was Secre~ary of Defense. 
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Matloff: So you don't get the feeliDS of a strong manager, of a strong Sec­

retary keeping an eye on all the pieces? 

Bidawax: My oplnlon of Mr. Wllson--bis abllities, his personality--is very 

low. 

Matloff: Dld he chooae able aubordlnates and associates? 

B.1dpaX: I don't know how many of them he personally picked, but he picked 

Roser Xyes, who was one of bis chief 1Ile11 when he (Wilson) was bead of Gen-

eral Motors. I think Kye. may have been an able adainistrator--I don l t 

know. But be was !lOt the type of an that draw willing cooperation out of 

people. Itts a bulldoz1ng, bulldog effect. Now, Bob Anderson was the type 

that would elicit your cooperation and set it. 

Matloff: Did you get the impression that Wilson shopped around for adVice, 

or did be rely on just a few trusted advisers? 

Ridgway: I would think the latter. 

Matloff: Did he develop an understanding of the complexit1es of national 

security policy anel problems? Was he implementing merely what the Preai-

dent wal directina. or did he rise above that to make his own creative 

contributions? 

ll1dgway: I couleln't answer that. 

Matlofi: How would you compare Wilson's influence over the President with 

that of Admiral Radford? Who was the more influential? 

Ridgway: I think the President accorded both of their views very serious 

consideration on all occasions. 

Matloff: Would you add any other impressions of otber Secretaries of Defense 

with whoa you came in contact, people like Forrestal. Marshall, Lovett? 



I. 

Ridgway: To.y Ilind there '. tlObody that even equals, lIluch leaa surpasses, 

Marshall. I will put Lovett at a very high place, because he illbibed the 

worJdDj taethocis and basic character of bis ehief. 

Matlaf!: Any other i.pressions of Forrestal, with wholl you bad sOlIe dealings? 

Ridpay: Forrestal I didn I t know too well, because our aequaintance vas 

quite brief. But I had the highest regard for him. 1 think that he ... a 

man of the highest integrity and character and I think that's what killed 

him. 

Matloff: We've already spoken about Roger ICyes and Robert Anderson. We-ve 

touched on McNeil. How about Radford~ anything more you want to Bay about 

hilll? 

Ridgway: I didn't have much contact with MeNeH. I've told you all I can 

about Radford. 

Matloff: You bad a favorable t.pression of Robert Carney, as I reaember. 

Ridgway: Very J and a very wam feeling of friendship toward him which 

exists today. With Nate Twining, likewise. 

Matlolf: How about Stevens, you mentioned before that you had a high 

regard for bill? 

Ridsway: A man of unimpeachable character and integrity and a sentleman. 

The door between his office and mine was always open. I could walk in to 

him unannounced at any time. 

Matloff: Thi. was a rather close partnership, then. 

RidIW!Y= Very close. 

Hatloff: Let me ask a general question MW about the Eisenhower presldency. 

There has been a considerable changing of views by writers on the subject 
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of the Eisenhower presidency. Some historians, _0 don't aaree with the 

earlier accounts, have been portrayina an activist pres1dent, and Bome 

scholars. what we in the trade call "revisionist historians." are talk1na 

about tbe -hidden hand leadership"--that he was really more active than 

people on the outside orislnally thought. Did you bave any impressions 

of how activist a president E1senhower wast 

BidB1f!Y: Ro, I don't think I'm competent to answer that question. My 

feelins would be that Eisenhower's personality was such (be had a winnina 

personality) that be could very readily use his personal influence in the 

unner in which you describe. But I didn't have any personal exatllples that 

calle to tIly no tice about that. 

KaUoff: Do you have any impressioDs of how be was get tina his information 

and advice? In aoaents of crisis, let's say, to whom would be turn? 

Ridgway: There's 110 question about this--that be praetically save Foster 

Dulles earte blancbe in running tbe foreisn policy of tbe United States. 

1 gave you one exataple of that--Dulles wanted very tauch to SO into Dien 

Bien Phu at that t1tae, and Eisenhower put a flat "no" on that, for tbe 

reasons stated. But he certainly did defer to Dulles and let hita run the 

State Dapareaent and the foreisn policy of tbe United States, and that 1s, 

of course, What the Secretary of State i8 for. 

Hatloff: Bow about on the E1senhower-Wilson relationship? Some people 

have the impression that Eisenhower became impat1ent w1th Wilson. that 

Wilson was always br1ns1ng him problems and lett1ng tbe President decide. 

1U.dpay: I wouldn't know what probletlls be brought to the President. 
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Hatlof£: Let's talk ahout your leavina the post of the Chief of Staff. 

Would you describe the cireumstances of your departure from the post, 

when you made up your mind that you were going to leave and why? 

Udsway: Yes, 1 think this 1s in my hook, and again I cOllllllend that to 

you, because 1t was written at the t1me and 1t 1s accurate beyond any 

question. But now I can only say this: the decision to retire at age 60 

was made in Paria f \!bile I was SACEOll, long before I even knew that I was 

goina to he Chief of Staff. Ky wife and I thoroughly canvassed the situa-

tion. You see, 1 w •• an Army boy. I entered the Military Acadeay at the 

age of eighteen, and had never had a residence or been able to vote in 

any 8tate of the unlon. Not unt11 I had been here in Pittshurgh for DOe 

year could I cast a vote. r had no roota in any part of the country. 1 

had lived allover the 01l1ted Statea. By "lived." I .. ean in place. for 

aore than a year. It t s really amazing when 1 think hack on 1t. The states 

of Wuhinaton, California, Texas, Georgia, North Carolina. Virginia, 

Mas.achusetts, New York, Kanaas, 111ino18--lIlore than a year had I lived 

in everyone of these placea. I knew the eountry hut 1 dIdn t t have any 

bond with any cO/IlIlunity. So Penny, lilY wonderful wife-and she is lIl8p.1f­

ieent--and I decided that at age 60 it was aoing to be hard enough 1:0 

get established in some community. If we waited longer, even .. auming 

the t I didn' t have to retire un til 64, it would be the t lIluch harder. So 

while I was in fine health, but not too long before 60, I let it be known 

that I wanted to retire. I waited until April, and then I asked the 

Judge Advocate General of the Army. HDo I have a right to retire noW?H 
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and he said, "Yes, you do. All you have to do is ask for it." So I sub-

mit ted my letter sometime shortly after that. 1 left without any rancor at 

all, and I would commend again my letter to Wilson that 8WRIled up my out­

look on the world, which hasnlt changed. 

Matloff: Were you consulted about your successor? 

Ridpay: No, not. at all; not a word, which was typical of Wilson's dealings. 

He brought Taylor in--Taylor was on duty in the Far East--just a few weeks 

before lilY retirement, and he and Taylor had sOlIe meetings. Taylor, who had 

been my subordinate, never breathed a word about it. All I could assume 

was that he must have been selected, but I was given no intilllation whatever. 

Matloff: Was there any discussion or correspondence between you and your 

succe •• or on the nsture of the A~y's problems aad its role under the New 

Look philosophy and bow you had fared during your tenure? 

Ridgway: Yes, I'. sure that Max Taylor and I discussed that at length, and 

that I offered to do anything I could after I knev he va. going to be Chief 

of Staff. We had long talks. I had known him intimately for many years. 

We vere classmates of the COIIlIIAD.d and Staff College. Be had been, first, 

Chief of Staff of the 82d for a brief time, tben Chief of Artillery, 82d 

Airborne Division, and then in C01Illlla.nd of the IOlst, when it was in my 

corps in Europe. 

Hatloff: In this conuection I bave a question from Dr. Leighton bearing 

on this issue about tb:l.8 succession. He 8ays. "General Maxwell Taylor bas 

told how, before his appointment a8 Chief of Staff in 1955, he was quizzed 

by Defense Secretary Wilson as to his willingnes8 to carry out orders of 
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his civilian superiors. Were you aware at the tim. t:hat this had occurred? 

that Taylor was belng quizzed by Wilson?" 

ll1daway: My answer Is an unequIvocal 'no, I but I learned about it later 

from Taylor. 

Matloff: Did General Taylor tell you about it later? 

lidgway: No, 1 read about it in his books. 

Matloff: Leighton asks, "Did this incident indicste to you that Secretary 

Wilson may have felt that you had been remi88 in fulfulliDS your profes-

sional oblications?" 

RidswaI: I don't know what Wilson felt. lIve said enoulh about my opin-

ions of Mr. Wilson. He should never have been Secretary of Defense. But 

Eisenhower picked him. 

Hatloff: I think that we've talked about how you see t:he Chief of Staff's 

role as a military adviser. unless you want to add to that. In your letter 

you were writing about that, as I remember. 

RidawaI: I made it very clear In this McElroy letter. I think that by 

statute be is one of the advisers to the Secretary of Defense and to the 

President. There should be no question of having him cut off by edict from 

above. Re 5hould have the legislated prescrIption or lesal right legislated 

by the Congress. You're dealing with a man who has had 30 years of service; 

apparently be must have had a fine record. or he would never have been chosen 

as the chief of one of our services. You·ve got to rely on that man's judg-

ment that 1£ a matter is of such great importance to his service aDd his 

views are not befna consulted, and he 1s GOt belag given an opportunity to 
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express them, then. he should have the right to go to the committees of the 

Congress--the Senate and the House Armed Forces Committees--and state his 

views. It's like the right of the people peacefully to redress their grlev-

ancea. The civilian authorities make the final decision. but they make it 

in the light of knowing his views. 

Matloff: What do you regard 88 your major achievements during your tenure 

as Chief of Staff and member of the Joint Chiefs? Anything in particular 

that you look back on with special pride? 

l1dsway: I think the preservation of the integrity of the offiee, and its 

acceptance as such not only by the government but by the American people. 

Walter Lippmann. in one of his articles about me shortly after my retire-

mant, commented on just that, and 1 think. that that probably would be my 

best contribution as Chief of Staff: to set an example of fearless, forth-

right expression of views, before a decision 1s made, and then to do your 

utmost to carry out the decision that you opposed, after it has been made. 

For instance, after the decision was ode to adhere to another drasUc cut 

in the Army 1 s strength, which I had opposed, when the decision was announced 

by the President. I personally went to everyone of the four Army coamanders 

to tell them what the situation was and that we would do everything in our 

power to carry it out. 

Madoff: On the other side of the coin, what, if any. do you regard as 

your disappointments or uncompleted tasks, or failure to do things that you 

would have 11ked to have done during this period as Chief of Staff? This 

was obviously a very trying period for the Army and for its leader. 
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tidaway: I expect that was probably to be unable to stop the steady ero­

sion of the Army's strength. just successive cut after cut. Right after 

my retirement, as I said before, I was called as witness before the Mahon 

COJDalttee of the House. Mr. Mahon, whom I bad known for many years, said, 

"General. you are free to say anything you want, now." And I replied, .. I 

shall.- 1 reiterated what I've just said to you. 

Matloff: I should ask you along that line: 4id you feel that the Congress 

had an appreciation for the issues? 

Udgway: Men 11ke Mahon did, yes. I had great adm.iration for Mahon. We 

had great statesm.en there. I refer again to Senator Walter George, Senator 

Dicit llussell, and in his early 48ys Senator Stennis. Senator StenDis now, 

I'm afraid, i8 senile, and they've str1pped him of his power. The committee 

chairmen had great power in the old days; they don't have it any more. 

Hetloff: You've been very patient, and I want to express our appreciation 

for your willingness to share your observations and co ... nts with us on a 

very important period of history in OSD. If there is any question which I 

should have asked you but have not, or anything that you would like to add, 

please feel free to do so. 

Udaway: I very lIuch appreciate these sessions with you. It's been a per­

sonal pleasure and, of course, a duty which I felt obliged to agree to--

to say what I think. I want to repeat O'Dee more that there may be consid-

arable variance between what I say now and what the documents might prove, 

but you have the right, privUege, and opportunity to check and document 

the accuracy of what 1 have said. I hope you w111 do that, if there is any 
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c:loubt in your .1ud. 1 Bay again that it I S been .y great honor to have 

served in the Army. Itts been a high privilege to have had the high 

posts I have had. 

Matloff: I'll sure that the record w111 show that yours bas been a very 

long aDd distinsulshed career that w111 certainly have its place in hia-

tory. Aayone writing about this period will have to take 1t 1uto 

account. 

B,tdmy: That I S very Und of you. I feel very deeply about these thinss. 

Everyone of my assignments was carried out always with the principle of 

doing one's utmoBt to understand the problems from all angles, to arrive 

at logical conclusions, and then fearlessly to say what one thought. I 

would come back to that again. 

Matloff: Thank you very Iluch, General. 

B,id8!ay: Thank you, Doctor, a great pleasure. 
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GBNEIAJ. M. B. B..lDGwA.Y 
918 WALDHJIM 1\OA.D W., POX CHAPEL 

pmSlRJRGH. PJiNNSYLVA.NL\ lS2U 

Dear Dr. Goldberg, 
10 Aug 84. 

I retux.herewith Fir.t & Final traaseripts of the two 
intervi_ of me conducted by Dr. Maurice Matloff' on 18 & 
19 Apri11l84, received ba:re on 06 August. I bave reviewed 
both wi th great cue. 

In the aan,. official aDd personal interviews I have 
had oyer many ye ... , I have never seaa a finer transcript 
than Dr. Matloff has produced. 

I have III&de only a very few coZ'rections as noted 8.Dd. 
init&itled on the margins. 

It is deeply grati:lyinO to have such a detailed aDd 
precise record of what I said and what I believe to be 
true. and I place no restrictions whatever on any use you 
or Or. Matlaff may care to make of the entire text. 

Would you JP,ndly let Dr. Matlo:ff see this letter, aDd 
tell hi. of my high regard for him and bis talents. 

I assuae that a like interview of Admiral carney will 
take place J if it bas n.1: already occurred. and if both 
he and you approve I would be gra.*,a1~to have a copy in 
due ti ... 

May I also express .y appreciation of the :II' 
granted lie to edit, delete, add, and correct th 

with great respect, 

Bncl - Return receipt 
postcard. 

Dr. Alfred Goldberg, Historian 
Office of the secretary of Defense 
Ad1I.instration, Rooa 3D 839 
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